



Suncoast Model Flyers Inc.

ABN: 19152 036 732

RULES OF INCORPORATED ASSOCIATION

1 NAME

The NAME of the Incorporated Association will be:

“Suncoast Model Flyers Incorporated”
(Hereafter referred to as the Association.)

2 OBJECTS

2.1 The OBJECTS of the Association are:

- 2.1.1 To engage in the sport of flying model aircraft.
- 2.1.2 To promote, organise, and encourage the building and flying of model aircraft.
- 2.1.3 To promote friendship and co-operation amongst all Association members.
- 2.1.4 To affiliate with the MAAQ Inc. (Model Aeronautical Association Queensland Incorporated), which in turn affiliates with the MAAA Inc. (Model Aeronautical Association Australia Incorporated) being the Australian representative of the World Federation Aeronautique International (FAI)

3 POWERS

3.1 The Powers of the Association are:

- 3.1.1 To subscribe to, become a member of, and co-operate with any other Association, Club or Organisation, whether Incorporated or not, whose objects are altogether or in part similar to those of the Association, provided that the Association shall not subscribe to or support with it's funds, any Club, Association or Organisation which does not prohibit the distribution of it's income and property among it's members to an extent at least as great as that imposed on the Association under or by virtue of Rule 23.9;
- 3.1.2 In furtherance of the objects of the Association, to buy, sell and otherwise deal in any kind of article, commodity and provision, both liquid or solid, for the members of the Association or persons frequenting the premises of the Association;
- 3.1.3 To purchase, take on lease or in exchange, hire or otherwise acquire any lands, buildings, easements or property, real and personal, and any rights or privileges which may be requisite to the purpose of, or capable of being conveniently used in connection with, any of the objectives of the Association, provided that in case the Association shall take or hold any property which may be subject to any trusts, the Association shall only deal with the same in such manner as is allowed by law, having regard to such trusts;
- 3.1.4 To enter into any arrangements with any Government or Authority that are incidental or conducive to the attainment of the objectives and the exercise of the powers of the Association to obtain from any such Government or Authority, any rights, privileges and concessions which the Association might think desirable to obtain, and to carry out, exercise and comply with any such arrangements, rights, privileges and concessions;
- 3.1.5 To appoint, employ, remove or suspend any Manager, Clerk, Secretary, Workman, or any other person as may be necessary or convenient for the purpose of the Association;

- 3.1.6 To remunerate any person or Body Corporate for services rendered, or to be rendered, and whether by way of brokerage or otherwise in placing or assisting to place or guaranteeing to placing of any unsecured notes, debentures or other securities of the Association or in or about the Association or promotion of the Association or in the furtherance of it's objectives;
- 3.1.7 To construct, improve, maintain, develop, work manage, carry out, alter or control any houses, buildings, grounds, works or conveniences which may seem calculated directly or indirectly to advance the Association's interests, and to contribute to, subsidise or otherwise assist and take part in the construction, improvement, maintenance, development working, management, carrying out, alteration or control thereof;
- 3.1.8 To invest and deal with the money of the Association, not immediately required, in a such manner as may from time to time, be thought fit;
- 3.1.9 To take or otherwise acquire and hold, shares, debentures or other securities of any Company or Body Corporate;
- 3.1.10 In furtherance of the objectives of the Association, to lend and advance money, or give credit to any person or Body Corporate; to guarantee and give guarantee or indemnities for the payment of money or the performance of contracts or obligations by any person or Body Corporate and otherwise to assist any person or Body Corporate;
- 3.1.11 To borrow or raise money, either alone or jointly, with any other person or legal entity in such manner as may be thought proper, and whether on fluctuating advance account or overdraft or otherwise, to represent or secure any monies and further advances, borrowed or to be borrowed, alone with others as aforesaid by notes secured or unsecured debenture or debenture stock, perpetual or otherwise, or by mortgage, charge, lien or other security upon the whole or any part of the Association's property or assets present or future and to purchase, redeem or pay off such securities;
- 3.1.12 To draw, make, accept, endorse, discount, execute and issue promissory notes, bills of exchange, bills of lading and other negotiable or transferable instruments;
- 3.1.13 In furtherance of the objectives of the Association, to sell, improve, manage, develop, exchange lease, dispose of, turn to account or otherwise deal with all or any part of the property and rights of the Association;
- 3.1.14 To take or hold mortgages, liens or charges, to secure payment of the purchase price, or any unpaid balance of the purchase price, or any part of the Association's property whatsoever kind sold by the Association, or any money due to the Association from purchasers or others;
- 3.1.15 To take any gift of property whether subject to any special trust or not, for any one or more of the objectives of the Association but subject always to the provision of rule 3.1.3;
- 3.1.16 To take such steps by personal or written appeals, public meetings or otherwise, as may from time to time to be deemed expedient for the purpose of procuring contributions to the funds of the Association, in the shape of donations, annual subscriptions or otherwise;
- 3.1.17 To print and publish any newspapers, periodicals, books or leaflets that the Association may think desirable for the promotion of its objects;
- 3.1.18 In furtherance of the objectives of the Association, to amalgamate with any one or more incorporated Associations having objectives, altogether or in part, similar to those of the Association, and which shall prohibit the distribution of it's or their income and property among it's or their members to an extent at least as great as that imposed on the Club under or by virtue of Rule 23.8;
- 3.1.19 In furtherance of the objectives of the Association; to purchase or otherwise acquire and undertake all or any part of the property, assets, liabilities and engagements of any one or more of the incorporated Associations with which the Association is authorised to amalgamate;
- 3.1.20 In furtherance of the objectives of the Association, to transfer all or any part of the property, assets, liabilities and engagements of the Association to any one or more of the incorporated clubs with which the Association is authorised to amalgamate;

- 3.1.21 To make donations for patriotic, charitable or community purposes;
- 3.1.22 To transact any lawful business in aid of the Commonwealth of Australia in the prosecution of any war in which the Commonwealth of Australia is engaged; and
- 3.1.23 To do all such other things as are incidental or conducive to the attainment of the objects and the exercise of the powers of the Club.

4 MEMBERSHIP

- 4.1 Membership is open to anyone other than those who have been convicted of an indictable offence or are known to be of a character prejudicial to the interests of the Association
- 4.2 The membership year is from the 1st June until the 31st May the following year when membership ceases and those wishing to continue to be members of the Association for the succeeding year, must re-apply using the Application Form provided.
- 4.3 Application for Membership is made in writing on the Association's Application Form by the applicant, who has to sign that they understand the Safety Rules of the Association and agree to be bound by those Rules; the Rules of Incorporated Association and By-laws.
- 4.4 The Applicant must be nominated for membership by a fully paid up member of the Association and the application lodged, with the Association Treasurer either by hand or at the address shown on the application form.
- 4.5 The application will be tabled at the next Committee meeting for assessment and acceptance or rejection. In the meantime the applicant can only engage in flying activities if accompanied by an instructor and after having entered their name and address in the visitors book.
- 4.6 To ensure the interests of the Club are supported and furthered, members are not permitted to hold full membership of any other aero modelling club or association, howsoever described.

5 CLASS OF MEMBERSHIP

- 5.1 The membership of the Club will consist of any of the following classes;
 - 5.1.1 Senior Members;
 - 5.1.2 Pensioner Members
 - 5.1.3 Junior Members;
 - 5.1.4 Associate Members;
 - 5.1.5 Life Members;
 - 5.1.6 Honorary Members;
 - 5.1.7 Patron Members;
 - 5.1.8 Social Members;
- 5.2 The number of Ordinary Members (Senior, Pensioner, Life and Junior) shall be unlimited and shall enjoy all the rights and privileges of the Association;
 - 5.2.1 Senior members are members who are over the age of 18 yrs on the 30th June.
 - 5.2.2 Pensioner members are members, who by age or disability, have a valid State Pension card which must be presented with their application for membership to secure the concession rate for Pensioners

5.2.3 Junior Members are members who are under 18 yrs. of age on the 30th June. A Junior, who has an 18th birthday between the 1st of July and 30th June of the next year, will be classified as a Junior for that year ending 30th June.

5.3 The number of Associate members shall be limited to 30% or less, of the number of Ordinary members at the time of application for Associate membership. Associate members must show their current F.A.I. card and provide details of their parent Club or Association on the appropriate application form. Associate members are not to hold any office on Committee but are allowed to attend General Meetings but will have no voting rights. They will be allowed to speak at General Meetings at the discretion of the Chairperson;

5.4 The number of Life, Honorary, Patron and Social members shall be limited to that number decided at any General Meeting of the Members;

5.4.1 Life Membership - A member may be elevated to a Life Member in recognition of a special service given to the sport/hobby and or Association when nominated by any other member. Such nomination must be in writing to the Secretary, and will be considered by the Committee at their next meeting. If approved, the nomination will be put to the members at the next General Meeting and the nominee granted Life Membership by majority vote. A Life Member shall enjoy all rights and privileges of the Association and will pay such fees as determined by the members at the General Meeting;

5.4.2 Honorary Membership – Is open to a member who, because of circumstances beyond their control, eg. sickness or injury, is unable to continue normal flying activities. A member may become an Honorary Member by nomination by any other member. Such nomination must be in writing to the Secretary, and will be considered by the Committee at their next meeting. If approved, the nomination will be put to the members at the next General Meeting and the nominee granted Honorary Membership by majority vote. An Honorary Member shall enjoy all rights and privileges of the Association but because they are unable to continue normal flying activities, they will not be liable for any Association fees. Any fees that may be due, eg. MAAQ affiliation fees, will be paid by the Association;

5.4.3 Patronage – One or more Patrons may be nominated and elected as in 5.4.1 and 5.4.2 above. Patrons will countenance, support and protect the members of the Association and it's activities. They will be exempt from fees but must have a current FAI license if wishing to participate in flying activities
Patronage is valid for twelve months or until the next AGM, whichever occurs first;

5.4.4 Social Membership – Is offered to all spouse/partners of any member, or any other person; is free but does not allow any participation in flying activities unless permitted by the provisions set out within these rules;

6. MEMBERSHIP FEES

6.1 Fees for each class of membership shall be determined, from time to time by the Management Committee and recommended for adoption by the members at any General Meeting.

6.2 Fees for each class of membership shall be paid at such time and in such manner as determined, from time to time, by the Management Committee.

7. ADMISSION AND REJECTION OF APPLICATIONS

7.1 Any application, for any class of membership shall be considered for acceptance or rejection by majority vote at a meeting of the Management Committee.

7.2 An applicant whose application has been accepted, will be advised in writing by the Secretary

7.3 Where an application has been rejected by the Management Committee, the matter is placed before the members at the next General Meeting for acceptance or rejection, and the Applicant advised in writing by the Secretary.

8 TERMINATION OF MEMBERSHIP

- 8.1 All memberships terminate on the 31st May of each year and application for membership is provided for in Section 4 – MEMBERSHIP, above
- 8.2 A member may resign membership of the Association at any time by giving notice in writing to the Secretary. Such notice will take effect on receipt by the Secretary unless a later date is specified.
- 8.3 Membership may be terminated if;
- 8.3.1 a member is convicted of an indictable offence; or
 - 8.3.2 fails to comply with the provisions of these rules; or
 - 8.3.3 has membership fees in arrears of two weeks or more; or
 - 8.3.4 conducts him/herself in a manner considered to be injurious or prejudicial to the character or interests of the Association.

8.4 Disciplinary Procedure

To meet the laws of Natural Justice, the following procedure will be followed, except in the case of gross misconduct, when the Management Committee reserve the right of immediate expulsion; or suspension of membership, pending the outcome of an investigation.

- a) The member be given a verbal warning by a committee member whereby the offending member is made aware of his/her misdemeanour and what he/she is reasonably required to do to make amends. The verbal warning will be recorded on the members personal entry in the membership file.
- b) Should the member re-offend following a verbal warning, the offender shall receive a written warning describing the misdemeanour and what is reasonably expected of them to make amends. The written warning will be recorded on the members personal entry in the membership file.
- c) In the event of another offence, the offender will be summoned to a meeting with the Management Committee to discuss the situation and show just cause why his/her membership should not be terminated. Failure to attend the meeting without reasonable excuse will be sufficient reason for the offenders membership to be terminated

9 APPEAL AGAINST TERMINATION OF MEMBERSHIP

- 9.3 A member whose membership has been terminated may, within one month, give notice in writing to the Secretary, of their intention to appeal the termination.
- 9.2 Upon receipt of notice of intention to appeal the termination, the Secretary shall within, three months, call a General Meeting of members to determine the appeal. At any such meeting the applicant will be given the opportunity to fully and fairly present their case. Likewise the Association given the opportunity to present its case. The appeal shall be determined by the vote of the members present at the Meeting
- 9.2.1 Any person whose membership has been terminated by vote of the Membership as provided for in 9.2 above, will not be eligible to re-apply for membership for a period of five (5) years from the date of termination

10 REGISTER OF MEMBERS

- 10.1 The Management Committee shall cause a register to be kept in which shall be entered the names and addresses of all members of the Association and their date of admission.

- 10.2 Particulars shall also be entered into the register of; deaths, resignations, terminations and re-instatements of membership and any other particulars as the Management Committee or the Members at any General Meeting may, from time to time, require.

11 MEMBERSHIP OF MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

- 11.1 The Management Committee shall consist of a President, Vice President, Secretary, Treasurer, Events Co-ordinator, Field Officer and Safety Officer, all of whom shall be members of the Association, and such number of other members as the members of the Association at any General Meeting may from time to time elect or appoint.
- 11.2 At the Annual General Meeting of the Association, all the members of the Management Committee for the time being shall retire from office, but shall be eligible upon nomination for re-election
- 11.3 The election of officers and other members of the Management Committee shall take place in the following manner:-
- 11.3.1 Any two members of the Association shall be at liberty to nominate any other member to serve on the Management Committee.
- 11.3.2 The nomination shall be in writing and signed by the proposer and seconder and lodged with the Secretary at least fourteen (14) days before the AGM at which the election is to take place;
- 11.3.3 A list of the candidates names together with those of the proposer and seconder shall be posted in a conspicuous place in the office or usual place of meeting of the Association for at least seven (7) days prior to the AGM
- 11.3.4 Where there is more than one candidate for any position, a balloting list shall be prepared showing the names of the candidates, and ballot papers available for all members at the Meeting, eligible to vote, to indicate their preferences.
- 11.3.5 Should there be insufficient nominations at the commencement of the Meeting, nominations from the floor of the Meeting will be allowed.
- 11.4 All candidates, whether nominated or otherwise, will take position on the Management Committee, only by the majority vote of the members present at the Annual General Meeting.
- 11.5 Any member of the Management Committee may resign from the Management Committee at any time by giving notice in writing to the Secretary. Such resignation shall take effect from the date of the notice unless a later date is specified.
- 11.6 Any member of the Management Committee may be removed from office at a General Meeting of the members of the Association where the member shall be given the opportunity to fully present their case. The question of removal shall be determined by majority vote of members at the Meeting.
- 11.7 Any member of the Management Committee absenting themselves without apology from three consecutive meetings of the Committee shall be required to show good cause why their position should not be declared vacant and a replacement appointed in their place.
- 11.8 Vacancy on Management Committee
- (1) If a casual vacancy happens on the Management Committee, the continuing members of the Committee may appoint another member of the Association to fill the vacancy until the next Annual General Meeting
- (2) The continuing members of the Management Committee may act despite a casual vacancy on the Management Committee
- (3) However, if the number of committee members is less than the number fixed under Rule 13(3) as a quorum of the Management Committee, the continuing members act only to-

- (a) increase the number of management committee members required for a quorum; or
- (b) call a General Meeting of the Association.

11.9 A new member, ie; a first time applicant, is not permitted to hold office on the Management Committee until a period of six (6) months of membership has elapsed.

12 FUNCTIONS OF THE MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

- 12.1 Except as otherwise provided by these rules and subject to any resolutions of the members of the Association carried at any General Meeting, the Management Committee shall:
- 12.1.1 have the general control and management of the administration of the affairs, property and funds of the Association, and
 - 12.1.2 have the authority to interpret the meaning of these rules and any matter relating to the Association, on which these rules are silent.
- 12.2 The Management Committee may exercise all the powers of the Association;
- 12.2.1 to borrow or raise or secure the payment of money in such manner as the members of the Association may think fit and secure the same or the payment or performance of any debt, liability, contract, guarantee or other engagement incurred or to be entered into by the Association in any way and in particular by the issue of debentures, perpetual or otherwise, charged upon all or any of the Association's property, both present and future, and to purchase, redeem or pay off any such securities;
 - 12.2.2 to borrow money from members at a rate of interest not exceeding interest at the rate for the time being charged by Bankers in Brisbane for overdraft on money lent, whether term of the loan be short or long, and to mortgage or charge its property or any part thereof and to issue debentures and other securities, whether outright or as security for and debt, liability or obligation of the Association, and to provide and pay off any such securities; and
 - 12.2.3 to invest in such manner as the members of the Association may from time to time determine.

13 MEETINGS OF MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

- 13.1 The Management Committee shall meet at least once every calendar month to exercise its function.
- 13.2 A special meeting of the Management Committee shall be convened by the Secretary on the requisition in writing by not less than one third of the members of the Management Committee. Such requisition shall clearly state why the Special meeting is being convened and the nature of the business to be discussed thereat.
- 13.3 At every meeting of the Management Committee a simple majority of a number equal to the number of members elected and/or appointed to the Management Committee as at the close of the last General Meeting of the members, shall constitute a quorum.
- 13.4 Subject as previously provided in this rule, the Management Committee may meet together and regulate its proceedings as it thinks fit, provided that matters arising at any meeting of the Management Committee shall be decided by a majority of votes and in the case of equality of votes, the question shall be deemed to be decided in the negative
- 13.5 A member of the Management Committee shall not vote in respect of any contract or proposed contract with the Association in which they have an interest or any matter arising thereof. If he/she does vote, the vote will be discounted.

- 13.6 The Secretary shall give the members of the Management Committee at least seven day notice of a Special Management Committee meeting stating clearly the nature of the business to be discussed at the meeting
- 13.7 The President of the Association shall preside as Chairperson at meetings of the Management Committee. If there is no President, or the President is not in attendance ten (10) Minutes after the Meeting is scheduled to begin, the Vice-President shall act as chairman and if there is no Vice-President, the members present may chose any of their number to chair the Meeting
- 13.8 If, within half an hour from the time appointed for the commencement of a Management Committee meeting, a quorum is not present, the Meeting, if convened upon the requisition of members of the Management Committee, shall lapse. In any other case it shall stand adjourned to the same day in the next week at the same time and place, or to such other day and at such other time and place as the Management Committee may determine, and if at the adjourned meeting a quorum is not present within half an hour from the time appointed for the meeting, the meeting shall lapse.

14 SUB-COMMITTEES

- 14.1 The Management Committee may delegate any of its powers to a Sub-Committee consisting of such members of the Association as the Management Committee thinks fit. Any Sub-Committee so formed shall in the exercise of the powers so delegated, conform to any regulations that may be imposed on it by the Management Committee.
- 14.2 A Sub-Committee may elect a Chairperson of its meetings. If no such Chairperson is elected at any meeting, or if at any meeting the Chairperson is not present within ten minutes after the time appointed for holding the meeting, the members present may choose one of their members to be Chairperson of the Meeting.
- 14.3 A Sub-Committee may meet and adjourn as it thinks proper. Questions arising at any meeting shall be determined by the majority of votes of the members present and in the case of equality of votes, the question shall be deemed to be decided in the negative.

15 VALIDITY OF MEETINGS

- 15.1 All acts done by any meeting of the Management Committee or of a Sub-Committee or by any person acting as a member of the Management Committee shall; notwithstanding that it is afterwards discovered that there was some defect in the appointment of any such member of the Management Committee or person acting as aforesaid, or that the members of the Management Committee or any of them were disqualified; be as valid as if every such person had been duly appointed and was qualified to be a member of the Management Committee.

16 VALIDITY OF RESOLUTIONS

- 16.1 A resolution in writing signed by all the members of the Management Committee for the time being entitled to receive notice of a meeting of the Management Committee shall be as valid and effectual as if it had been passed at a meeting of the Management Committee duly convened and held. Any such resolution may consist of several documents in like form, each signed by one or more members of the Management Committee.

17 GENERAL MEETINGS

- 17.1 A General Meeting of the members shall be held at such place and at such time as determined by the Management Committee and at intervals of no greater than three months.
- 17.2 The Secretary shall convene all General Meetings of the Association by giving not less than fourteen days notice to the members of the Association.
- 17.3 The manner by which such notice is given shall be determined by the Management Committee,

provided that notice given of any meeting convened for the purpose of hearing and determining the appeal of a member against termination of membership by the Management Committee, shall be given in writing.

- 17.4 Notice of a General Meeting shall clearly state the nature of the business to be discussed thereat where possible.
- 17.5 At any General Meeting the number of members required to constitute a quorum shall be double the number of members on the Management Committee present, plus one, except as provided for in 17.7
- 17.6 No business shall be transacted at any General Meeting unless a quorum of members is present when the meeting proceeds to business. For the purpose of this rule, 'member' includes a person attending as a proxy or as a representative of a Corporation which is a member.
- 17.7 If within half an hour from the time appointed for the commencement of a General Meeting a Quorum is not present, the Meeting, if convened upon the requisition of a member of the Management Committee or the Association, shall lapse. In any other case it shall stand adjourned to the same day in the next week at the same time and place, or to such other time and place as the Management Committee may determine and if, at the adjourned meeting a quorum is not present within half an hour from the time appointed for the Meeting, the members present shall form a quorum.
- 17.8 The Chairperson may, with the consent of any meeting at which a quorum is present (and shall if so directed by the Meeting), adjourn the meeting from time to time and place to place, but no business shall be conducted at any adjourned meeting other than that left unfinished from the meeting from which the adjournment took place. When a meeting so adjourned for 30 days or more, notice of the adjourned meeting shall be given as in the case of a normal General Meeting, save as aforesaid, it shall not be necessary to give any notice of an adjournment or of the business to be transacted at an adjourned meeting.
- 17.9 The secretary shall convene a Special General Meeting;
- a) when directed to do so by the Management Committee; or
 - b) on the requisition in writing signed by not less than one-third of the members presently on the Management Committee or not less than the number of members of the Association which equals double the number of members presently on the Management Committee plus one. Such requisition shall clearly state the reasons why such Special General Meeting is being convened and the nature of the business to be transacted thereat; or
 - c) on being given a notice in writing of an intention to appeal against the decision of the Management Committee to terminate the membership of any person.

18 CONDUCT OF BUSINESS AT GENERAL MEETING

Unless otherwise provided by these Rules, at every General Meeting:

- 18.1 The President shall preside as Chairperson, or if there is no president, or if they are not present within fifteen minutes after the time appointed for the holding of the Meeting, or is unwilling to act, or if the Vice-President is not present or is unwilling to act, then the members shall elect one of their number as Chairperson.
- 18.2 The Chairperson shall conduct the Meeting in a proper and orderly manner.
- 18.3 Every question, matter or resolution shall be decided by a majority vote of the members present.
- 18.4 Every Ordinary, Life and Honorary member present shall be entitled to one vote and in the case of equality of votes the Chairperson shall have a second or casting vote. No member

shall be entitled to vote at any General Meeting if their annual subscription is more than two weeks in arrears on the date of the Meeting.

- 18.5 Voting shall be by show of hands or a division of members, unless not less than one-fifth of the members present demand a ballot, in which event there shall be a secret ballot. The Chairperson shall appoint two members to conduct the secret ballot in such manner as the Chairperson determines and the result of the ballot as declared by the Chairperson shall be deemed to be the resolution of the Meeting.
- 18.6 An Ordinary, Life and Honorary member may vote in person or by proxy or by attorney and on a show of hands every person present who is a member or a representative of an Ordinary, Life and Honorary member shall have one vote and in a secret ballot every Ordinary, Life and Honorary member present in person or by proxy or by attorney or other duly authorised representative shall have one vote.
- 18.7 The instrument appointing a proxy shall be in writing, in the common or usual form under the hand of the appointer or of their attorney duly authorised in writing or, if the appointer is a Corporation, either under seal or under the hand of an officer or attorney duly authorised. A proxy may but need not be a member of the Association. The instrument appointing a proxy shall be deemed to confer authority to demand or join in demanding a secret ballot.
- 18.8 Where it is desired to afford an opportunity of voting for or against a resolution the instrument appointing a proxy shall be in the following form or a form as near thereto as circumstances permit:-

ASSOCIATION:.....

I,.....of.....
being a member of the above Association, hereby appoint.....
of.....or failing him/her.....
of....., as my proxy to vote on my behalf at the (Annual)
General Meeting, to be held on the.....day of.....200... and at
any adjournment thereof.

Signed this.....day of.....200...

Name.....(please print)

Signature.....

This form to be used *in favour of/ *against the resolution
(* strike out whichever is not desired)

Unless otherwise instructed the proxy may vote as he/she thinks fit.

- 18.9 The instrument of proxy shall be deposited with the Secretary prior to the commencement of any meeting or adjourned meeting at which the person named in the instrument proposes to vote.

19 MINUTES OF MEETINGS

- 19.1 The Secretary shall cause full and accurate minutes of all questions, matters, resolutions and other proceedings of every Management Committee Meeting and General Meeting to be entered into a book to be open for inspection at all reasonable times by any financial member who previously applies to the Secretary for that inspection.
- 19.2 For the purposes of ensuring the accuracy of the recording of such minutes, the minutes of every Management Committee Meeting shall be signed by the Chairperson of the next meeting of the Management Committee. The accuracy of the minutes of every General Meeting or Annual General Meeting shall be verified in a similar manner.

20 BY-LAWS

The Management Committee may from time to time, make, amend or repeal by-laws not inconsistent with these Rules, for the internal management of the Association and any by-law may be set aside at a General Meeting of the members.

21 ALTERATIONS TO RULES

21.1 Subject to the Associations Incorporations Act 1981, these rules may be amended, repealed or added to by special resolution carried at a General Meeting

21.2 However, an amendment, repeal or addition is valid only if it is registered by the Chief Executive of the department administering the Act

22 COMMON SEAL

The Management Committee shall provide for a Common Seal and for its safe custody. The Common Seal shall only be used with the authority of the Management Committee and every instrument to which the Seal shall be affixed shall be signed by a member of the Management Committee and countersigned by the Secretary or by a second member of the Management Committee, or by some other person appointed by the Management Committee for that purpose.

23 FUNDS AND ACCOUNTS

23.1 The funds of the Association shall be banked in the name of the Association in any bank as the Management Committee shall from time to time direct.

23.2 Proper books and accounts shall be kept and maintained either in written or printed form in the English language showing correctly the financial affairs of the Association and the particulars usually shown in books of a like nature.

23.3 All monies shall be banked as soon as practical after receipt thereof.

23.4 All amounts of \$20 (twenty dollars) or more shall be paid by cheque signed by any two of the, President, Secretary and Treasurer or other member of the Association as authorised from time to time by the Management Committee.

23.5 Cheques shall be crossed 'Not Negotiable' except for the payment of wages, allowances or petty cash recoupment in which case the cheque may be 'open'.

23.6 The Management Committee shall determine the amount of petty cash which shall be kept on the imprest system

23.7 As soon as practical after the end of each Financial Year the Treasurer shall cause to be prepared a statement showing particulars of;

23.7.1 the income and expenditure for the financial year just ended, and

23.7.2 the assets and liabilities and of all mortgages, charges and securities affecting the property of the Association at the end of that year.

23.8 All such statements shall be examined by the Auditor, who shall present a report upon such audit to the Secretary prior to the holding of the Annual General Meeting next following the financial year in which such audit was made.

23.9 The income and property of the Association whencesoever derived shall be used and applied solely in promotion of its objects and in the exercise of its powers as set out in these Rules and no portion thereof shall be distributed, paid or transferred directly or indirectly by way of dividend, bonus or otherwise by way of profit to or amongst the members of the Association

provided that nothing herein contained shall prevent the payment in good faith of interest to any such member in respect of monies advanced by them to the Association or otherwise owing by the Association to them or of remuneration to any officers or servants of the Association or to any member of the Association or any other person in return for any services actually rendered to the Association provided further that nothing in these Rules shall be construed so as to prevent the payment or repayment to any member for out of pocket expenses, money lent ,reasonable and proper charges for goods hired by the Association on reasonable and proper rent for premises demised or let to the Association.

24 DOCUMENTS

The Management Committee shall provide for the safe keeping of books, documents instruments of title and securities of the Association

25 FINANCIAL YEAR

The Financial Year of the Association shall end on the 30th June of each year

26 DISTRIBUTION OF SURPLUS ASSETS

If the Association shall be wound up in accordance with the provisions of the 'Association Incorporation Act 1981', and there remains, after satisfaction of all its debts and liabilities, any property whatsoever, the same shall not be paid to or distributed among the members of the Association, but shall be given or transferred to some other institution or institutions having objects similar to the objects of the Association and which shall prohibit the distribution of its or their income and property among its members to an extent at least as great as is imposed on the Association under or by Rule 23.8, such institution or institutions to be determined by the members of the Association

27 CLAIMS AGAINST OFFICERS

No member of the Association shall have or maintain any claims whether in Law or Equity, against the Association or against any Officer of the Association or against any member of the Management Committee in respect of any act or omission by such Officer or member in the course of their duties as such Officer or member

END OF RULES OF INCORPORATED ASSOCIATION
14th May 2007
(Registered with the Department of Fair Trading: 21st January 2008)

BY-LAWS AND SAFETY RULES

Revised 22nd May 2007

THESE BY-LAWS ARE TO BE READ INCONJUNCTION WITH THE CLUB CONSITTUTION

COLOURS.

The colours of the Club shall be as determined, from time to time, at a General Meeting of the members.

At the present time the colours are Maroon and Gold, with Gold predominant

QUALIFICATION FOR MEMBERSHIP.

To be eligible for membership to the club, a person must be:

- a. Interested in constructing and/or flying Radio Controlled model aero planes;
- b. Of good repute and character, and compatible with other members;
- c. Free from indebtedness to any other aero modeling club or flying organization with which he/she may have previously been a member;
- d. Not a full member of another aero modeling club but may be an Associate member of other clubs.

Associate Membership:

An Associate member may be any person who wishes to use the club facilities or otherwise associate with the Club; provided that such person furnishes evidence of Public Liability Insurance for at least the sum insured and coverage provided to the members of the club by the MAAA. The Management Committee may, at its discretion, enquire into the validity of such evidence.

Associate membership is limited to 30% of the total number of full Club members

It is a condition of membership that all General and Safety Rules are understood; and that members agree to be bound by these rules and the provisions of the Constitution

FEES

The membership fee consists of two parts; the Club fee, which is determined, from time to time, by the Management Committee and recommended for adoption at a General Meeting; and the MAAQ Inc. fee, which includes an affiliation fee and insurance. The Club is affiliated to the MAAQ (Model Aeronautical Association of Queensland Incorporated), which is the Governing body for Incorporated Model Aeronautical Association for Queensland.

DUTIES:

EVENT DIRECTOR.

To carry out all the directions of the Management Committee and/or General Meeting in respect of all club events and competitions.

To plan, organize, and supervise, the running of such events and competitions.

To see that the rules of the competition are adhered to; and that such competitions are held in an equitable and fair manner.

To report to the Management Committee and/or General Meeting when required, on any matter relating to his/her office;

The Rules of competition adopted from time to time by the Queensland body shall be the Rules in force in all club events, except when otherwise provided for by the Management Committee and/or General Meeting.

All prizes presented to or offered by the club for competitions shall be competed for under such regulations as the management committee may from time to time determine.

PUBLICITY OFFICER (When appointed)

Be responsible for all club publicity. He/she shall submit any suggestions and ideas to the Management Committee for the furtherance of aeromodeling and/or the Club.

FIELD OFFICER

Shall be an elected member of the Management Committee charged with the responsibility of ensuring that the club field and grounds are maintained in proper order, the toilets and other facilities are kept in an acceptable condition; and present a report at meetings of the Management Committee.

Have the authority to recruit and direct any volunteer member for such duty as is necessary to maintain the field and Club grounds in good order.

SAFETY OFFICER

Shall be an elected member of the Management Committee charged with the responsibility of ensuring all Safety Rules are observed while in attendance at the Club's flying field.

MEMBERS IN GENERAL

Every member has agreed to be bound by the Club's rules as a condition of membership. It is every member's responsibility to assume the role of Safety Officer in the absence of the elected Safety Officer; and undertakes to observe, each and every Rule, as well as every By-Law, Management Committee and/or General Meeting decision; and at all times conduct him/herself with propriety. This requirement includes supervision of junior members and visitors to the Club's field.

Every member shall keep the Secretary informed of his/her correct address and any other changes which affect the Secretary's ability to communicate.

VISITORS

Friends and relatives are welcome to the flying field to enjoy the Club's facilities, attend Club meetings and participate in Club social activities, but are not allowed to compete in Club competitions, take part in any business conducted, nor have any voting rights at Club meetings.

No visitor is allowed in the Pit area or within 30 metres of the pilot pound unless actively engaged in the operation of a radio controlled model aircraft as a caller for aerobatic flying, or a judge of skills, or any other similar activity where their presence is required.

A visitor to the field for the purpose of receiving instruction in the operation of a model aircraft is covered for insurance by the MAAA Third Party Public Liability Policy provided they are:-

- a) Properly signed in by a Club member in a permanent Club Visitors book entering their Name, Address and Date and the name of the Club member being responsible for ensuring that they are aware of, and monitor their compliance with, MAAA and Club rules.
- b) Abide by MAAA and Government regulations, and

- c) Only sign in on a maximum of four (4) occasions, if during any visit they fly a model either independently, or under instruction.

Note:-

Former members of the Suncoast Model Flyers cannot be signed in as a visitor covered by the MAAA Insurance Policy if their membership has lapsed for no less than 5 years.

Visiting Association pilots are welcome to fly on an occasional basis and must be able to produce a current MAAA license upon request. Visitors not known to the club must have their first flight accompanied by a qualified or approved Club instructor. When there is no qualified or approved instructor available, a senior member with Gold Wing rating may supervise the flight.

Visiting MAAA members will be required to join the club as an Associate member if they have made more than three visits to the field

If in the opinion of the Management Committee, any visitor is found abusing the club privileges, the Management Committee shall have the power to remove the visitor(s) from the flying field and/or premises.

Children must be under parental control at all times.

Animals must not be allowed to roam free and must be effectively constrained at all times. Any fouling by animals must be cleaned up by the owner

PILOT QUALIFICATIONS

Three levels of pilot qualification currently apply; Bronze, Gold and Instructor

Wings and a Certificate are awarded to pilots who have successfully demonstrated their ability to control a model through a series of prescribed manoeuvres set down by the MAAA in MOP027 (Manual of Procedures No 27), or in the case of Bronze Wings, the manoeuvres set out in the Club's procedures.

Bronze Wings* with Certificate are awarded free to pilots who successfully demonstrate to a Club Instructor/Examiner their ability to fly a model to the standard set out in the Bronze Wings procedures.

* No member may fly a model unsupervised until they have been tested for Bronze Wings by an authorized MAAQ qualified Instructor /Examiner.

Gold Wings with Certificate are awarded to any pilot who successfully demonstrates to a Club Instructor/Examiner their ability to fly a model to the Gold Wing standard. A \$10 fee, payable to the MAAQ, applies to the issue of Gold Wings.

Instructor/Examiner Wings with Certificate are awarded to members who complete the Instructor's course under the auspices of the MAAQ Chief Flying Instructor. A \$15 fee is payable to the MAAQ, for Instructor /Examiner status.

A Club Approved Instructor is allowed to instruct a novice pilot to Bronze Wing standard but not allowed to examine their student for the purpose of issuing Bronze Wings

The "Buddy Box" system is the Club's preferred method of instruction.

GENERAL.

1. No engines are to be run before 7.00am Monday to Saturday or before 8.00am Sundays, Christmas Day, Good Friday and Anzac Day.
2. The height limit set by CASA (Civil Aviation Safety Authority) is 400ft. Flying above this limit is a cause for official complaint by CASA and/or Air Traffic Controllers in the Maroochydore Airport control tower.
Full size aircraft are permitted to fly over the field at 500ft. Airspace must be cleared for any full size aircraft seen to be flying, or suspected to be flying, below an altitude of 500ft in the vicinity of the field.

3. Non-members are not allowed to operate a radio controlled model aircraft of any description at the field, unless they are a visitor to the field for the purpose of receiving instruction
- 4 Mobile Phones, whether switched on or not, are banned from the flight line, transmitter pound and pit area.

SAFETY RULES

The flying of Radio Controlled models is dangerous and these rules are formulated to afford the maximum safety of members and non-members alike; they must be observed at all times.

1. Procedure on Arrival
Transmitters must be placed in the pound on arrival, and when removed for flying, the correct frequency key must be inserted in the appropriate keyboard slot.

Radios must be returned to the pound and key removed when not in use.

Each radio at the field must have a current bandwidth test label and a frequency key (50mm) displaying name and frequency.* The key must have a colour coded label attached to indicate that the member is financial for the current year.

* 2.4Ghz transmitters or any other equipment capable of synthetic frequency generation must be used in conjunction with the frequency control procedures in place.

2. No aircraft to be fuelled or started behind the Pit fence.
3. **Models must be effectively restrained using suitable personal restraints or those provided by the Club. Throttling to full power and fine-tuning of the engine must be done away from the pit area and facing into the main area of the field. (not facing towards any body)**

Heavy models and gas turbine powered models must be started on the starting pads situated on the taxiways leading to the main runway and using the restraints provided. These restraints are stored in the transmitter pound.

- 4 Pilots must **carry** or **wheel** their aircraft directly from the Pit area to the main taxiway. Taxiing to the flight line must be on taxiway only, at walking pace, with the pilot as close as practical to the aircraft,.

**No taxiing from main taxiway into the pits
No taxiing in the Pits.**

- 5 All Pilots must be positioned inside the Pilot Pound when flying a fixed wing model aircraft or helicopter not being flown in the area allotted for hovering practice.

No more than 5 aircraft are to be in the air at any one time.

Rotary wing aircraft (autogyros), which rely on forward motion generated by a propeller to sustain flight, are regarded as fixed wing aircraft for the purpose of these rules

- 6 Take off and landing must be made from the runway, except in the case of an emergency landing

Aircraft under no power have right of way.

In crosswind situations, take off will be permitted into wind, but must have permission of pilots in the pilot pound.

Take off is allowed 3 meters out from the upwind end of the pilot pound

- 7 Low flying towards the flight line, pits, sheds or car park is forbidden at any time and all aerobatics, including those involving 3D style manoeuvres and low level propeller “hanging”, must be executed on the south side of the runway and not less than **20 meters** from the pilot pound.
- 8 Pilots must clearly communicate their flight manoeuvres and be acknowledged by all pilots at the flight line.

Pilots must announce their intentions to land prior to turning onto base leg.
- 9 Any model considered to be unsafe by the Safety Officer, or the majority of members present shall be grounded.
- 10 Large models and models powered by gas turbine(s) are regulated by MOP015 and MOP030 respectively, of the MAAA Manual of Procedures. It is the responsibility of the owner of a model covered by these procedures to be aware of the provisions contained within them.
- 11 High speed pylon racing models must be flown on Southern side of general flying area in an east/west circuit direction only and no closer than 50 meters to the flight line.
- 13 Helicopters are to practice hovering manoeuvres in the allotted area.
- 14 Sailplanes, (including aero towed) are to be launched from a designated spot, with launching devices positioned clear of taxiways and the main runway. Verbal advice of impending sailplane launches must be given to power fliers prior to launching and must be acknowledged.
- 15 Lightweight models, usually electric powered and primarily designed and built for 3D aerobatics must be flown in the area allocated to helicopters

Breaching of Rules

Members in breach of any General or Safety Rule, will be advised of the rule without penalty. Blatant and/or persistent disregard of the rules will result in the member being disciplined under Section 8.4.- Disciplinary Procedure, of the Rules of Incorporated Association.

AMENDMENTS TO BY-LAWS

Amendments to, making of, and repealing of By-laws is covered by Section 20 of the Rules of Incorporated Association.